

# LUND UNIVERSITY

### Clinical and Experimental Approach to the Benefits and Risks of Laser Treatment for **Diabetic Macular Edema**

T-Khani, Poya

2016

### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

T-Khani, P. (2016). Clinical and Experimental Approach to the Benefits and Risks of Laser Treatment for Diabetic Macular Edema. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Ophthalmology (Malmö)]. Ophthalmology, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

**General rights** 

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00



Clinical and Experimental Approach to the Benefits and Risks of Laser Treatment for Diabetic Macular Edema

Poya Tababat—Khani



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden

To be defended at Lilla Aulan, Jan Waldenströms gata 5, SUS Malmö Friday 15 April at 09:15 am

> *Faculty opponent* Professor Anders Kvanta St. Erik Eye Hospital, Karolinska Institutet Stockholm, Sweden

Organization	Document name	
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Department of Clinical Sciences, Ophthalmology,	Date of issue: April 15, 2016	
Skåne University Hospital, Malmö		
Author: Poya Tababat—Khani	Sponsoring organization	
Title and subtitle: Clinical and Experimental Approach to the Benefits and Risks of Laser Treatment for Diabetic Macular		
Edema		

### Abstract

Diabetic retinopathy is an ophthalmic complication of diabetes that currently affects 93 million people worldwide. Diabetic macular edema is a subtype of diabetic retinopathy that is characterized by leaking blood vessels in the central part of the retina, and it is a major cause of vision loss in individuals with diabetes. Screening for retinopathy is performed at regular intervals to identify subjects in need of treatment. In Sweden, the recommended screening interval for type 2 diabetic subjects with no diabetic retinopathy is 3 years. Laser treatment for diabetic macular edema has been used for decades, but studies have reported conflicting results regarding possible clinical complications following such therapy. Furthermore, the molecular events involved in the clinical benefits of laser treatment have not been fully explored.

To determine the safety of the current screening interval, the 3-year incidence of diabetic retinopathy and macular edema was monitored in type 2 diabetic subjects with no retinopathy (Study I). To identify the long-term effects of laser treatment, the retinal sensitivity in 29 consecutively recruited subjects with diabetic macular edema was assessed by visual fields before and after laser treatment every 6 months during a period of 2 years (Study II). To investigate the cellular and molecular events that may be involved in the clinical benefits of laser treatment, a model of in vitro laser coagulation of the retinal pigment epithelium was established and used to evaluate cell death and cell repair (Study III). The same model was also used to explore the effects of laser treatment on mRNA and protein levels by analysis of microarray and proteomics data (Study IV).

Study I demonstrated a very low incidence of sight-threatening diabetic retinopathy, which supports the current use of a 3-year retinal screening interval for the subgroup in question. Study II showed no change in retinal sensitivity following laser treatment for diabetic macular edema during the 2-year follow-up compared to baseline. Study III revealed that laser-induced damage involved both necrosis and apoptosis, and the repair process entailed both proliferation and migration. In study IV, the downregulation of the protein Carbonic anhydrase 9 and the upregulation of heat shock proteins 1A and 1B were the most interesting findings and might explain some of the beneficial effects of laser treatment for diabetic macular edema.

Key words: Diabetic macular edema, laser treatment, reti	inal pigment epithelium, ARPE-19
--	----------------------------------

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English	
ISSN and key title: 1652—8220, Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Disser- tation Series 2016:13		ISBN: 978-91-7619-239-9	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages: 98	Price: —	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Security classification

r	
Signature	VA

Date 2016-02-29

Clinical and Experimental Approach to the Benefits and Risks of Laser Treatment for Diabetic Macular Edema

Poya Tababat—Khani



Copyright © Poya Tababat—Khani

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Clinical Sciences ISBN 978-91-7619-239-9 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2016



Till min livskamrat, Line

Live as if you were living a second time, and as though you had acted wrongly the first time.

— Viktor E. Frankl

# Contents

Abstract	11
List of papers	13
Abbreviations	14
Introduction	15
Diabetic retinopathy Pathophysiology of diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema Screening of diabetic retinopathy Diabetic macular edema Cellular and molecular effects of retinal photocoagulation Methods	15 15 19 20 22
Research design (Studies I and II) An in vitro model of photocoagulation (Studies III and IV) Morphology and cell death (Study III) Cell proliferation and migration (Study III) Real-time RT-qPCR (Studies III and IV) Microarray hybridization and analysis of microarray results (Study IV) Protein extraction, trypsin digestion, iTRAQ labeling, and peptide fractionation	25 25 28 28 28 29 29
(Study IV) Mass spectrometry, protein identification and quantification, and processing of KEGG data (Study IV) Data pooling (Study IV)	29 30 30
Results	31
Three-year incidence of diabetic retinopathy (Study I) Human subjects (Study II) The in vitro model of photocoagulation (Study III) Changes in gene and protein expression after photocoagulation (Studies III and IV	31 32 34 /)34
Discussion	37
Screening intervals for type 2 diabetic subjects without retinopathy (Study I) Impact of focal/grid laser treatment on the visual field (Study II) Effects of laser irradiation on RPE cells in vitro (Studies III and IV)	37 38 39
Conclusions	41
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	43
Acknowledgements	47
References	51
Paper 1	57
Paper 2	61
Paper 3	69
Paper 4	89

# Abstract

Diabetic retinopathy is an ophthalmic complication of diabetes that currently affects 93 million people worldwide. Diabetic macular edema is a subtype of diabetic retinopathy that is characterized by leaking blood vessels in the central part of the retina, and it is a major cause of vision loss in individuals with diabetes. Screening for retinopathy is performed at regular intervals to identify subjects in need of treatment. In Sweden, the recommended screening interval for type 2 diabetic subjects with no diabetic retinopathy is 3 years. Laser treatment for diabetic macular edema has been used for decades, but studies have reported conflicting results regarding possible clinical complications following such therapy. Furthermore, the molecular events involved in the clinical benefits of laser treatment have not been fully explored.

To determine the safety of the current screening interval, the 3-year incidence of diabetic retinopathy and macular edema was monitored in type 2 diabetic subjects with no retinopathy (Study I). To identify the long-term effects of laser treatment, the retinal sensitivity in 29 consecutively recruited subjects with diabetic macular edema was assessed by visual fields before and after laser treatment every 6 months during a period of 2 years (Study II). To investigate the cellular and molecular events that may be involved in the clinical benefits of laser treatment, a model of in vitro laser coagulation of the retinal pigment epithelium was established and used to evaluate cell death and cell repair (Study III). The same model was also used to explore the effects of laser treatment on mRNA and protein levels by analysis of microarray and proteomics data (Study IV).

Study I demonstrated a very low incidence of sight-threatening diabetic retinopathy, which supports the current use of a 3-year retinal screening interval for the subgroup in question. Study II showed no change in retinal sensitivity following laser treatment for diabetic macular edema during the 2-year follow-up compared to baseline. Study III revealed that laser-induced damage involved both necrosis and apoptosis, and the repair process entailed both proliferation and migration. In study IV, the downregulation of the protein Carbonic anhydrase 9 and the upregulation of heat shock proteins 1A and 1B were the most interesting findings and might explain some of the beneficial effects of laser treatment for diabetic macular edema.

# List of papers

- I. Agardh E, Tababat-Khani P. Adopting 3-year Screening Intervals for Sight-Threatening Retinal Vascular Lesions in Type 2 Diabetic Subjects Without Retinopathy. Diabetes Care. 2011 Jun;34(6):1318–9. DOI: 10.2337/ dc10-2308.
- II. **Tababat-Khani P**, Bengtsson B, Elisabet A. Effects of focal/grid laser treatment on the central visual field in diabetic macular oedema: a 2-year follow-up study. Acta Ophthalmol. DOI: 10.1111/a0s.12956. [Epub ahead of print]
- III. Tababat-Khani P, Berglund LM, Agardh CD, Gomez MF, Agardh E. Photocoagulation of Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells In Vitro: Evaluation of Necrosis, Apoptosis, Cell Migration, Cell Proliferation and Expression of Tissue Repairing and Cytoprotective Genes. PLoS One. 2013 Aug 1;8(8):e70465. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070465.
- IV. Tababat-Khani P, de la Torre C, Canals F, Bennet H, Simo R, Hernandez C, Fex M, Agardh CD, Hansson O, Agardh E. Photocoagulation of human retinal pigment epithelium in vitro: unravelling the effects on ARPE-19 by transcriptomics and proteomics. Acta Ophthalmol. 2015 Jun;93(4):348–54. DOI: 10.1111/a0S.12649.

The papers are referred to in the text as Studies I–IV and are reproduced here with permission from the publishers.

© American Diabetes Association [Study I] © Wiley [Studies II & IV]

# **Abbreviations**

AGE	advanced glycation end product
Anti-VEGF	anti-vascular endothelial growth factor
ARPE-19	human retinal pigment epithelial cell line
cDNA	complementary DNA
CSME	clinically significant macular edema
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
ETDRS	Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study
HbAıc	glycosylated hemoglobin
KEGG	Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
mRNA	messenger RNA
mfERG	multifocal electroretinography
Nd:YAG	neodymium-doped yttrium aluminum garnet
PCNA	proliferating cell nuclear antigen
RAGE	receptor for advanced glycation end product
RPE	retinal pigment epithelium
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RT-qPCR	reverse transcription quantitative PCR
SAP	standard automated perimetry
SWAP	short-wavelength automated perimetry
TD-OCT	time-domain optical coherence tomography
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor

# Introduction

Diabetes mellitus is a chronic disease that is characterized by elevated blood glucose levels (hyperglycemia). The global prevalence of diabetes among adults was estimated to be 6.4% in 2010, and calculations indicate that the rate will rise to 7.7% by 2030, with expected increases of 69% and 20% in developing and developed countries, respectively [1]. Concurrently, the global cost of diabetes was at least 376 billion USD in 2010 and is projected to be approximately 490 billion USD by 2030 [2].

Hyperglycemia impacts both small and large blood vessels in the body, causing what are known as microvascular and macrovascular complications. The microvascular complications affect the eyes (retinopathy), kidneys (nephropathy), and the peripheral nerves (neuropathy), and the macrovascular complications affect the cardiovascular system. In general, these complications lead to increased morbidity, including visual impairment and blindness, renal failure, peripheral nerve damage, myocardial infarction, and stroke. Additional ocular complications of diabetes are cataract and keratopathy. Diabetic retinopathy is the focus of this thesis.

## **Diabetic retinopathy**

Diabetic retinopathy affects 35% of the global diabetic population, representing approximately 93 million people, of which 28 million are estimated to have vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy [3]. This disease is considered to be a leading cause of blindness among working-age adults worldwide [4].

Diabetic retinopathy impacts the retina and is characterized by morphological vascular changes, initially microaneurysms and hemorrhages. Subsequent features in no specific order—are exudates, retinal thickening, dilatation of venules, capillary dropout, and pathological connections between retinal arteries and veins. The advanced stages of retinopathy include neovascularization, fibrovascular growth, and finally retinal traction and detachment, which can result in permanent vision loss. Neovascularization, or angiogenesis, is defined as the formation of fragile, easy bleeding, pathological blood vessels, which exhibit high vascular permeability and hence leak fluids and substances that can damage the retina.

## Pathophysiology of diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema

Epidemiological studies have confirmed that the microvascular damage that occurs in diabetic retinopathy is linked to chronic hyperglycemia [5, 6], but the mechanisms behind the development of the retinal microvascular abnormalities have not yet

been thoroughly explained. The biochemical pathways and structural abnormalities that have been identified as key contributors in this context are summarized in Table 1. These pathways are interrelated and intertwined, and therefore none of them can be pinpointed, nor overlooked, as being at least partly responsible for the retinal vascular abnormalities that arise in diabetes.

### Table 1.

Pathways involved in the development of diabetic retinopathy.

Name	Initiating process	Endpoints	References
Polyol pathway	Hyperglycemia	<ul> <li>↑ Sorbitol (osmotic damage)</li> <li>↑ AGEs and oxidative stress</li> <li>↓ Anti-oxidative protection</li> </ul>	[7-9]
Advanced glycation end products (AGEs)	Hyperglycemia Polyol pathway RAGE binding	<ul> <li>↑ Vessel stiffness (cross-links lipids and proteins)</li> <li>↑ Transcription of growth factors and inflammatory cytokines</li> </ul>	[10,11]
Protein kinase C	Hyperglycemia	<ul> <li>↑ Growth factors</li> <li>↑ Pericyte loss</li> </ul>	[12-14]
Oxidative stress	Hyperglycemia Polyol pathway AGEs Protein kinase C activation	↑ Reactive oxygen species (ROS) ↑ Growth factors	[15,16]

### Additional processes involved in the development of diabetic retinopathy

## Breakdown of the inner blood retinal barrier

The inner blood retinal barrier consists of tight junctions between the endothelial cells of the capillaries in the inner retina, which prevent leakage of molecules from the retinal capillaries [17]. In diabetes, dysfunction of the blood retinal barrier causes extravasation of fluids and accumulation of lipids and lipoproteins in the intraretinal space, which eventually leads to irreversible retinal damage. The mechanisms underlying the fluid leakage include increased paracellular permeability due to dysfunctional proteins in the tight junctions between the endothelial cells and

augmented transcellular permeability of caveolar vesicles within the endothelial cells (e.g., induced by VEGF and AGEs) [18].

Pericytes contribute to the integrity of the blood retinal barrier and, together with endothelial cells and the basal membrane, they make up the retinal capillaries [19]. There is evidence that detachment and apoptosis of pericytes are among the earliest events in the development of diabetic retinopathy, and may be triggered by intercellular alterations that weaken adhesion between the pericytes and endothelial cells [18].

An additional factor in breakdown of the blood retinal barrier is the modulation of aquaporin 4, a protein that is involved in the transport of water across cell membranes. In diabetes, it is possible that disturbance of aquaporin 4 causes swelling of the Müller cells, which are responsible for regulating the water homeostasis in the retina. Accordingly, such an effect may play a role in the development of retinal edema [20].

Thickening of the basal membrane also occurs in diabetes, probably due to an imbalance between synthesizing and degrading factors [21]. The retinal capillary basement membrane is 200–600 nm thick [22] and is composed mainly of type IV collagen, fibronectin, laminin, and heparan sulfate proteoglycans, and it is located between the pericytes and the endothelium of blood vessels. This membrane serves as a substratum for cell attachment, provides a selective permeability barrier, and regulates cell survival [23]. Events that promote basal membrane thickness include increased levels of growth factors, activation of protein kinase C, and accumulation of AGEs. Alteration of the basal membrane structure is believed to affect the permeability of the retinal capillaries.

## Growth factors

The pathways presented in Table 1 are all linked to an upregulation of growth factors associated with the development of diabetic retinopathy, of which VEGF is the most extensively studied. Numerous other growth factors have been found to be involved in the developlemt of diabetic retinopathy (Table 2), in addition to downregulation of several anti-angiogenic factors.

Table 2.

Alphabetical list of growth factors reported to be involved in the development of diabetic retinopathy [24, 25].

Growth factor	Pro- or antiangiogenic
Angiopoietin 2	Pro
Angiostatin	Anti
Atrial Natriuretic Peptide	Anti
Chemokine ligand 12	Pro
Connective Tissue Growth Factor	Pro
Cystein-rich 61	Pro
Endostatin	Anti
Erythropoietin	Pro
Fibroblast Growth Factor	Pro
Hepatocyte Growth Factor	Pro
Insulin-like Growth Factor 1	Pro
Interferon-α 2a	Anti
Osteopontin	Pro
Pigment Epithelial Derived Growth Factor	Anti
Placental Growth Factor	Pro
Platelet Derived Growth Factor	Pro
Thrombospondin	Anti
Transforming Growth Factor-beta	Pro
Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor	Pro

## Inflammation

Development of diabetic retinopathy is most likely influenced by inflammatory mechanisms, which in turn mediate structural and molecular alterations associated with the development of retinal vascular changes. Examples of this are the following: VEGF has been identified as a proangiogenic cytokine [26]; binding of AGEs to RAGE leads to leukostasis and tight junction dysfunction [27]; and static leukocytes produce ROS and inflammatory cytokines [28]. In addition, the cytokine IL-6 induces

endothelial cell permeability by increasing the gene expression of *VEGF* [29], and IL-8 promotes angiogenesis [30]. Furthermore, IL-1 $\beta$  activates transcriptional factor NF- $\kappa$ B, which is involved in the transcription of inflammatory cytokines [31] and acts together with TNF- $\alpha$  to stimulate production of IL-6 and IL-8 in retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) cells, and also promotes angiogenic activity.

### Carbonic anhydrase

Carbonic anhydrases are enzymes that catalyze the conversion of carbon dioxide and water to bicarbonate and a proton, and they participate in physiological processes that involve electrolyte balance, pH regulation, water, and transport of CO<sub>2</sub> and  $HCO_3^{-}$  [32]. An observational study conducted in 1988 [33] suggested that the carbonic anhydrase inhibitor acetazolamide can have a beneficial effect on macular edema, probably by enhancing fluid resorption, improving retinal blood flow, and increasing retinal oxygen tension [34]. Carbonic anhydrase 9 is also a known marker of hypoxia in tumors [35].

## Screening of diabetic retinopathy

Due to the complex characteristics of diabetic retinopathy, grading scales have been developed to standardize the classification of the severity of vascular changes [36,37]. In this context, monitoring in screening programs is crucial to identify subjects in need of treatment, because the retinal vascular changes in diabetic subjects can occur without affecting visual acuity. Screening is performed by trained medical staff or ophthalmologists using either fundus photography or fundus examination. Epidemiological studies have shown that the risk of progression of vascular changes increases with the severity of both the diabetes per se [38] and the retinal vascular changes [36].

The ever-increasing burden on health service providers that has accompanied the increasing number of people with diabetes has prompted a debate regarding appropriate screening intervals for diabetic retinopathy. Alternative and affordable screening methods with smart phone photography have been studied and found to show considerable agreement with clinical examination [39]. Assessments of fundus images by use of automated algorithms [40, 41] and by non-professionals [42] have also provided promising results and may help decrease the burden on the health care system in the future.

Recommended screening intervals for type 2 diabetic subjects with no retinopathy differ between countries. For example for this subgroup of patients, annual screening is advised in the United States [43] and the United Kingdom [44], whereas biennial screening is advocated in Iceland [45]. Biennial screening was also considered appropriate by the Swedish Board of Health and Welfare until 2010, when it was replaced by the currently applied recommendation of a 3-year interval [46].

Extended screening intervals are believed to reduce the workload of health care providers, and yet the screening interval applied in Sweden until 2010 for diabetic subjects with no retinopathy was based on expert opinion rather than epidemiologic investigations. A large cohort study of the incidence of diabetic retinopathy in England, which included more than 20 000 screening events, was published in *The Lancet* in 2003 [47], and the results that were reported suggested that it could be safe to extend the screening interval from 2 to 3 years in type 2 diabetic subjects without retinopathy. In accordance with that observation, the local guidelines in Malmö, Sweden, were changed in 2006 to recommend a 3-year interval. The aim of Study I included in this thesis was to determine whether a 3-year interval could be safe in a Swedish population by conducting prospective longitudinal monitoring of the incidence rate of diabetic retinopathy in this cohort.

## Diabetic macular edema

Thickening of the retina in the macular region is considered to be a major cause of vision loss in diabetic subjects and is commonly referred to as diabetic macular edema. Such edema can occur at any stage of diabetic retinopathy and does not necessarily affect visual acuity. The term clinically significant macular edema (CSME, defined in Table 3) was introduced in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) [48,49]. In that investigation, it was found that photocoagulation led to stable visual acuity in eyes with CSME but provided no benefit in eyes with retinal edema that did not fulfill the criteria for CSME. The term CSME has been considered the gold standard in terminology for sight-threatening macular edema in clinical research.

### Table 3.

The definition of clinically significant macular edema includes one or more of the listed characteristics.

- Thickening of the retina at or within 500 µm of the center of the macula.
- Hard exudates at or within 500 µm of the center of the macula, if associated with thickening of adjacent retina.
- A zone or zones of retinal thickening one disc area or larger, any part of which is within one disc diameter of the center of the macula.

### **Measurement of retinal sensitivity**

Standard automated perimetry (SAP) is based on the principles of the Goldmann perimeter using a white stimulus on a white background. What is known as selective perimetry was introduced as being more sensitive than SAP for detecting subtle visual field loss, and one such approach is called short-wavelength automated perimetry (SWAP). Initial investigations suggested that SWAP is particularly sensitive to diabetic macular edema [50,51], although that finding was not confirmed in a later study [52].

Microperimetry is a technique in which fundus imaging and tracking are performed simultaneously during perimetric examination. This strategy enables direct testing of areas of the retina exhibiting morphological changes, and it may offer an advantage over SAP for evaluation of retinal sensitivity in subjects with impaired fixation. A drawback of microperimetry is that it has a limited dynamic range compared to SAP [53], and hence it may be less efficient in detecting subtle changes in retinal sensitivity.

SAP is the conventional method for monitoring subjects with suspected or established visual field loss, and this technique has not yet been proven to be inferior to any other type of perimetry for detection of visual field disturbances. Moreover, SAP is most widely employed to determine fitness for operating motor vehicles in the United Kingdom [54] and in Sweden [55], and also for classifying visual impairment and blindness [56]. Therefore, we chose to use SAP to study the long-term effects of laser treatment on diabetic macular edema.

Perimetry reflects the function of the entire visual pathway, whereas mfERG allows assessment of retinal sensitivity alone and also enables mapping of local and global retinal defects without involvement of the visual pathway. Lung et al. [57] performed visual field perimetry and mfERG to investigate retinal sensitivity in type 2 diabetic subjects with and without retinopathy and found that mfERG was superior in showing differences between the groups. Moreover, abnormal responses have been demonstrated in CSME patients by mfERG [58], and models using this method to predict diabetic macular edema have been developed [59]. Nevertheless, clinical application of mfERG is limited due to the need for trained staff and high equipment costs, as well as the negative influence of lens media opacity and the lack of age-matched normative data [60].

### Focal and grid photocoagulation

Despite the increasing trend towards use of intravitreal anti-VEGF injections to treat diabetic macular edema, laser therapies still constitute an important part of the arsenal of treatment options. Since publication of the results of the ETDRS, focal and grid photocoagulation have been considered standard treatments for CSME. In focal photocoagulation, the laser beam is aimed at leaking microaneurysms, where the energy is absorbed by the hemoglobin in the blood, leading to thrombus formation and vessel wall contraction [61]. In grid photocoagulation, the laser beam is directed toward areas of leakage or retinal thickening originating from dilated leaking capillaries, and, in this case, the energy is absorbed by the melanin of the RPE [62]. Both focal and grid photocoagulation are often required and performed during the same treatment session.

The amount of energy delivered to the retina is determined not only by the settings of the laser machine, but also by the characteristics of the eye being treated,

such as the opacities of the cornea, lens, or vitreous, the amount of fluid between the retinal layers, and the concentration of retinal pigment. Lower energy settings are required for a pigment-rich than for a pigment-poor retina. Also, a highly edematous retina or an eye with cataract or other forms of decreased transparency can require higher energy settings compared to an eye with less edema or normal transparency [62].

The temperature rise in the retina can also disperse to adjacent retinal structures and injure the neuroretina, Bruch's membrane, or choriocapillaris. Such damage, can in turn impair retinal sensitivity, and even lead to choroidal neovascularization, epiretinal fibrosis, and long-term expansion of laser scars [63-65].

Change in retinal sensitivity after photocoagulation in patients with CSME has been assessed, but previous clinical investigations have been based on short follow-up time and/or have reported conflicting results. In Study II, we aimed to map changes in retinal sensitivity in diabetic subjects with CSME over a period of 2 years following laser photocoagulation.

## Cellular and molecular effects of retinal photocoagulation

Despite the widespread awareness of the clinical benefits of photocoagulation, the cellular and molecular effects of this method remain unclear. It has been proposed that the positive therapeutic outcome of laser coagulation is due either to biochemical changes occurring on the RPE level during the healing process after treatment [66] or to improved retinal oxygenation as an effect of a reduction in retinal tissue [67,68]. The numerous roles of the RPE in sustaining retinal function are listed in Table 4.

The effects of a specific treatment can be investigated using human cell culture models in which experimental parameters and conditions can easily be altered. Three immortalized human RPE cell lines have been created: Davis et al. [70] produced the D407 cell line, but it was found to differ from RPE cells *in vivo* due to loss of enzymatic activity and cytoskeletal polarization [71]; Bodnar et al. [72] established the hTERT-RPE cell line by transfecting RPE cells with vectors that encode the human telomerase activity and thereby extend the cellular life span; Dunn et al. [73] generated the ARPE-19 cell line, which, because of its characteristics in terms of polarization and permeability [71], became the line used most often to study the outer blood-retinal barrier.

The objective of Study III was to use the ARPE-19 cell line to establish a model of *in vitro* photocoagulation and to investigate necrosis, apoptosis, migration, proliferation, and the expression of genes involved in proliferation, migration, repair, and cytoprotection. The aim of Study IV was to explore the effects of *in vitro* photocoagulation on mRNA and protein levels by microarray and proteomics analysis of the model developed in Study III.

### Table 4. Functions of the RPE [69].

Function	Description
Light absorption	Absorbs scattered light which enhances vision quality and protects against cell damage.
Nutrient and ion transport	Transports electrolytes and water from the subretinal space to the choroid, and nutrients from the choroid to the photoreceptors.
Spatial buffering of ions	Buffers ions in the subretinal space, compensates for fast changes in ion concentration, and maintains photoreceptor excitability.
Visual cycle	Achieves re-isomerization of all-trans-retinal to 11-cis-retinal.
Phagocytosis	Phagocytizes photoreceptor outer segments and redelivers important molecules to the photoreceptors.
Secretion of growth factors	Produces and secretes numerous growth factors.

# **Methods**

## **Research design (Studies I and II)**

All examinations and procedures were performed at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö, Sweden. Subjects who were younger than 30 years of age at the time they were diagnosed with diabetes and were being treated only with insulin treatment were considered to have type 1 diabetes. All other diabetic subjects were regarded as having type 2 diabetes.

In Study I, a total of 1,691 type 2 diabetic subjects with no retinopathy detected at a photographic screening session in a program for early detection of diabetic retinopathy were registered in a database and scheduled for a 3-year follow-up. Redfree images of one central and one nasal 50° field per eye were obtained by digital fundus photography. The International Diabetic Retinopathy and Macular Edema Severity Scales [37] were used for grading, and CSME was defined in cases involving macular edema.

In Study II, 29 diabetic subjects with untreated CSME were consecutively enrolled during a 2-year period. The macular edema was treated with focal/grid photocoagulation (Fig. 1), and the long-term effects of that treatment on two aspects of retinal sensitivity were tested every six months: visual acuity was assessed using ETDRS charts at a distance of four meters and was expressed as the logarithm of minimum angle of resolution (LogMAR scores), and the central 10° of visual fields was evaluated using the SITA Standard 10-2 program of the Humphrey Field Analyzer (Carl Zeiss Meditec Inc., Dublin, CA, USA). In addition to clinical examination, retinal thickness was measured by time-domain optical coherence tomography (TD-OCT; Carl Zeiss Meditec Inc.) at baseline and at each follow-up visit. Blood glucose and HbA1c measurements were also performed at each visit.

The Humphrey Field Analyzer provides tools for interpreting SAP, such as probability maps flagging test points that are significantly depressed below normal limits. We counted the number of significantly depressed points at the p < 0.01 level in the total deviation probability maps. Trends in visual fields over time were calculated by linear regression analysis of the number of significantly depressed points at the p < 0.01 level.

## An in vitro model of photocoagulation (Studies III and IV)

The RPE cell line ARPE-19 was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA, USA) and used in all experiments. Cells were incubated in a



**Figure 1.** Fundus images demonstrating focal/grid photocoagulation burns (black arrowheads) 15 minutes (a) and 24 months (b) after treatment (*figure 1a is reproduced with permission from Wiley [Study II]*).

humidified environment, and the medium was changed every third day. Prior to the laser treatment (referred to as time "zero"), the cells were plated at a density of 3 x 10<sup>4</sup> on glass cover slips placed in cell culture wells and incubated for seven days to reach confluence. In Study III, cells were cultured in DMEM (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) containing 1000 mg/L D-Glucose; in Study IV, culturing was performed in DMEM containing either 1,000 or 4,000 mg/L D-Glucose to be able to differentiate the effects of hyperglycemia on ARPE-19 after photocoagulation.

Inasmuch as ARPE-19 cells lack pigment, a black paper was placed under the cover slips before starting the laser treatment to facilitate absorption of the laser beam. Photocoagulation was performed using a 532-nm frequency-doubled Nd:YAG laser (Visulas 532, Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Each sample was subjected to 50 uniformly spaced laser burns (Fig. 2). To determine which settings generated the highest reproducibility with respect to lesion size, we used spot sizes of 100, 200, and 300 µm and powers of 200 and 300 mW at a duration of 0.1 s.



### Figure 2.

Lesions observed within minutes of in vitro photocoagulation of ARPE-19 cells cultured on glass cover slips (spot size 200  $\mu$ m). Small gas bubbles appeared between the paper and the glass coverslip after photocoagulation, forming the pale punctuated rings observed around the lesions. (*Figure also published in Study III; permission not required due to open access rights.*)

## Morphology and cell death (Study III)

To monitor the morphological appearance of the laser lesions, ARPE-19 cells were fixed and stained at various time points between o and 168 h after laser treatment. The cells were examined with a Nikon Eclipse E800 microscope (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan) and imaged using a Nikon DS-5Mc camera, a Nikon DS-U1 control unit, and NIS-Elements software (version 3.22, Nikon). Six to eight samples were analyzed for each time point.

To visually distinguish between living and dead ARPE-19 cells after photocoagulation, the cells were stained green with fluorescent Calcein AM (which stains living cells) and red with ethidium homodimer-1 (which stains dead cells), and subsequently imaged at various time points between o and 168 h after the laser treatment using the equipment described above. Appropriate filter sets were used to detect fluorescence. Cell death was also verified by quantification of LDH activity in the culture medium at various time points between o and 72 h after the treatment.

To identify apoptotic ARPE-19 cells after photocoagulation, cells were fixed at various time points between 2 and 168 h after the treatment and were visualized with an *In Situ* Cell Death Detection Kit, POD (Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany). Apoptosis was also measured at various time points between 0 and 168 h after the laser treatment by using a Cell Death Detection ELISA<sup>plus</sup> assay (Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany) to quantify cytoplasmic histone-associated DNA fragments in cell homogenates and in the culture medium.

## Cell proliferation and migration (Study III)

At various time points between o and 168 h after laser treatment, proliferation of ARPE-19 cells was visualized and quantified using a monoclonal antibody against PCNA and a secondary antibody. SYTOX Green (1:3,000, Molecular Probes) was used to identify nuclear regions and individual cells. Samples were examined in a Zeiss LSM 5 Pascal laser scanning confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss, Öberkochen, Germany), and the nuclear PCNA intensity was quantified using the Zeiss LSM 5 analysis software.

To determine the effects of mitomycin C and docetaxel on cell proliferation and migration, ARPE-19 cells were scratched with the tip of a sterile pipette and photographed at o and 24 h later after incubation with or without either of the two agents at various concentrations below a predetermined level of toxicity. The cells were inspected with a Nikon TMS microscope and imaged using a Nikon DS-Fi1 camera and NIS Elements F version 2.20 software (Nikon). Scratched areas were measured using ImageJ software [74]. The effects of mitomycin C and docetaxel on proliferation and migration during the repair process after photocoagulation were evaluated by measuring the size of the cell-free region within the laser lesions at 12, 24, 48, and 72 h after the laser treatment.

## Real-time RT-qPCR (Studies III and IV)

RNA extraction was performed at 6 and 24 h after photocoagulation in Study III and at 2, 6, and 24 h in Study IV. The quality of RNA was assessed before cDNA was synthesized from RNA, and the mRNA levels were analyzed with a 7900HT real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) using TaqMan Gene Expression Master Mix (Applied Biosystems), TaqMan Gene Expression Assay (Applied Biosystems), cDNA, and deionized diethylpyrocarbonate-treated water (Fermentas). Cyclophilin B was used as an endogenous control in Study III, and cyclophilin A, actin beta, and hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase 1 were the endogenous controls in Study IV.

# Microarray hybridization and analysis of microarray results (Study IV)

Four control and four laser-treated normo- and hyperglycemic ARPE-19 RNA samples for each time point (2, 6, and 24 h after photocoagulation) were subjected to microarray hybridization using the Human Gene 1.0 ST array (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA, USA). Raw data have been deposited in the National Center for Biotechnology Information Gene Expression Omnibus repository under accession number GSE41332. Basic chip quality control, probe summarization, and data normalization were performed by robust multi-array analysis using Expression Console Software v 1.1.2 (Affymetrix).

# Protein extraction, trypsin digestion, iTRAQ labeling, and peptide fractionation (Study IV)

Four control and four laser-treated normo- and hyperglycemic ARPE-19 pellet samples (total 16 samples) were solubilized, sonicated, centrifuged, purified, and diluted to identical protein concentrations of 5.47 µg/µl. After reduction and alkylation, the protein samples were diluted with TEAB buffer and modified porcine trypsin (Promega, Madison, WI, USA), and the tryptic digests were purified by solid-phase extraction. The peptide chains in the samples were identified using isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantification (iTRAQ 8-plex; AB Sciex, Framingham, MA, USA). Samples were desalted and fractionated using an electrofocusing system (OFFGEL Fractionator; Agilent Technologies, Böblingen, Germany) with immobilized pH gradient gel strips.

## Mass spectrometry, protein identification and quantification, and processing of KEGG data (Study IV)

The iTRAQ-labeled mixtures were analyzed on an LTQ Velos-Orbitrap mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) coupled to a nano-high-performance liquid chromatography (nano-HPLC) system (Proxeon, Hvidovre, Denmark). Proteins were identified using Mascot 2.3 (Matrix Science, London, UK) to search the Swiss-Prot 2010.11 database. For each MS/MS spectrum, the ratios between the intensity of each reporter ion and the internal standard were calculated.

Pathway information was obtained from the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) [75]. A hypergeometric test was employed to assess the probability of selected pathways showing more than the expected number of genes in the analysis group. The test was based on all genes and proteins queried by the microarray and mass spectrometry.

# Data pooling (Study IV)

The group comparisons between the two concentrations of glucose showed no differentially expresed genes. Therefore, we assumed that the glucose concentration would not influence gene expression and thus increased the number of samples from four to eight by pooling the data on low and high glucose in both laser-treated and untreated cells.

# Results

# Three-year incidence of diabetic retinopathy (Study I)

Only one eye in one subject developed CSME during the 3-year follow-up period. This subject had moderate non-proliferative retinopathy in both eyes, was on diet treatment, and received no anti-hypertensive treatment at either baseline or follow-up. None of the subjects developed proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Baseline and follow-up characteristics are presented in Table 5. Baseline characteristics did not differ between dropouts and completers. Incidence data are given in Table 6.

### Table 5.

Proportions (%) and median values of subject characteristics at baseline and follow-up.

	Baseline	Follow-up	CI (95%) for $\Delta^*$
Sex, % (no. males)	56.8 (961)	56.6 (748)	-9.25 to 8.85
Diabetes duration (yrs)	4.0 [1.0-4.0]	8.0 [5.0–11.0]	
Missing data	2.0 (33)		
Anti-diabetic treatment (%)			
Diet only	25.1 (424)	12.2 (161)	-15.65 to -10.15
Oral agents	51.7 (874)	61.0 (806)	5.71 to 12.89
Oral and insulin	7.3 (123)	14.1 (187)	4.53 to 9.07
Insulin only	12.4 (209)	11.7 (155)	-3.06 to 1.66
Missing data	3.6 (61)	1.0 (13)	
Anti-hypertensive treatment (%)			
Anti-hypertensive treatment	55.8	68.3	9.01 to 15.99
Missing data	1.0	2.6	

\*Values in the right column indicate 95% confidence interval for the difference between the proportions (sex, antidiabetic and anti-hypertensive treatments).

Values within parentheses indicate number of subjects. Values within brackets indicate interquartile range.

### Table 6.

Three-year incidence of diabetic retinopathy in the worst eye (grading according to the International Clinical Diabetic Retinopathy and Diabetic Macular Edema Disease Severity Scales [37]).

Degree of retinopathy	%	Number of subjects
None	72.6	960
Any retinopathy	27.4	362
Mild	18.5	245
Moderate	8.9	117
Severe non-proliferative and proliferative	0	0
Clinically significant macular edema	0.07	1

Subjects in whom the grade of retinopathy progressed two steps (to moderate retinopathy) had significantly higher median HbAic levels compared to subjects with one-step progression (to mild retinopathy). The proportion of subjects with progression to mild and moderate retinopathy was larger among those who required insulin treatment at baseline than among those on diet treatment or oral agents only at baseline. Duration of diabetes at baseline did not differ between subjects with one-step progression and those with two-step progression.

## Human subjects (Study II)

None of the studied subjects developed laser-induced visual field damage during the 24-month follow-up. At baseline, visual acuity ranged from 0.32 to 1.58 Snellen (median 1.0), and the severity of macular edema varied with respect to localization, thickness, and extension. At follow-up, visual acuity improved or was stable in 12 subjects but on average declined four letters in the remaining subjects.

Comparing TD-OCT subfields above the 99th percentile at baseline with corresponding subfields at 24 months showed that thickness decreased by 49  $\mu$ m in all subfields in 19 subjects and in some, albeit not all, subfields in two subjects. Visual fields improved or were stable in 20 subjects but declined five points on average in the remaining six subjects, which corresponded to the laser-treated area in only one case.

The mean of the visual field trend slopes for all subjects did not differ from o (mean = 0.5 significantly depressed test points per month; p = 0.63), and the standard deviation was small (0.5) (Fig. 3). There was no correlation between the number of significantly depressed points at any follow-up visit and the total number of laser shots. The number of significantly depressed points at the last visit did not correlate with the number of re-treatments over time.



### Figure 3.

Visual field trend slopes (number of significantly depressed points per month) for all subjects in Study II. Positive and negative slopes indicate deterioration and improvement, respectively. **Top**: positive slopes (> 0.1 points per month) indicating minor increases in number of depressed points over time in all but one subject who developed proliferative retinopathy and required panretinal photocoagulation at 21 months. **Middle**: Flat slopes (-0.1 to 0.1 points per month) indicating minor decreases in number of depressed points over time in all but one subject who showed considerable improvement from 20 points at baseline to three at 12 months and zero at 18 and 24 months. This subject had six significantly depressed points at the training session, and hence it is unlikely that the baseline field test was actually representative of the baseline status.

## The in vitro model of photocoagulation (Study III)

Photocoagulation caused a combination of necrotic and apoptotic cell death, and was followed by a healing process involving both migration and proliferation. Laser shots delivered at 300 mW and with a spot size of 200  $\mu$ m and duration of 0.1 s provided the most reproducible lesions in the ARPE-19 cell culture and were therefore used throughout the experiments. Laser-irradiated areas could be identified after only 30 min. An empty rim appeared around the lesions at 2 h; ARPE-19 cells covered the rim at 24 h; the cells had started to cover the center of the lesion at 48 h; and the lesions were almost completely covered at 72 h.

Morphological evaluation of necrosis demonstrated that necrotic cells appeared after only 30 min, with a peak at 6 h, and quantification of necrosis showed a corresponding significant increase in necrotic activity at 30 min (peak) and 2 and 6 h. Morphological evaluation of apoptosis demonstrated apoptotic cells with a maximum intensity at 24 h (cf. 6 h for necrosis), and quantification of apoptosis revealed a corresponding significant increase in apoptotic activity, also with a peak at 24 h.

Proliferation activity was measured as expression of the S-phase marker PCNA at different time points and distances from the center of the lesions. The results showed that the activity was significantly reduced 2 to 6 h after photocoagulation at all distances, and this effect was most prominent within 200  $\mu$ m of the center. Proliferation levels returned to normal after 24 h and continued to increase at all distances from the center of the lesions over the following days. To distinguish between proliferation and migration in the healing process after photocoagulation, we used docetaxel and mitomycin C to block migration and proliferation, respectively. Both these agents resulted in larger lesion diameter compared to untreated controls.

## Changes in gene and protein expression after photocoagulation (Studies III and IV)

Real-time RT-qPCR showed upregulation of genes involved in cell proliferation, migration, tissue repair, and cytoprotection at 6 and 24 h after photocoagulation. Microarray analysis revealed 911 significantly down- or upregulated genes (out of a total of 28,869 genes), and 33, 713, and 165 of those 911 genes were altered at 2, 6, and 24 h after photocoagulation, respectively. Further downstream analysis of the microarray data was performed using the KEGG. Pathways and matched genes were found primarily in processes involved in the cell cycle, systemic lupus erythematosus, purine metabolism, and the DNA replication pathway (denomination according to KEGG). Mass spectrometry revealed a total of 242 significantly down- or upregulated proteins (out of a total of 1,537 proteins). KEGG analysis demonstrated only one significant pathway: the chemokine signaling pathway (denomination according to

KEGG).

The datasets from the microarray and mass spectrometry analyses were cross-referenced, and 24 gene-protein duplicates were found. After laser exposure, the vascular permeability factor Carbonic anhydrase 9 exhibited suppressed gene-protein expression, whereas the cytoprotective heat shock proteins 1A and 1B showed increased gene-protein expression. KEGG analysis of the 24 gene-protein pairs revealed three pathways (according to KEGG denomination: the glycine, serine, and threonine metabolism pathway; the nitrogen metabolism pathway; and the histidine metabolism pathway), each with two matched genes.

# Discussion

The objectives of the studies underlying this thesis were to explore the effects that laser coagulation for diabetic macular edema has on retinal sensitivity and on cultured human RPE cells.

## Screening intervals for type 2 diabetic subjects without retinopathy (Study I)

In the cohort of type 2 diabetic subjects with no retinopathy included in Study I, only one individual developed CSME and none developed proliferative diabetic retinopathy during a 3-year period, which corresponds to a 3-year incidence of 0.07%. This observation agrees with three investigations conducted in the United Kingdom comprising larger cohorts of subjects with no retinopathy at baseline in Liverpool (n = 3,743) [47], Wales (n = 49,763) [76], and Norfolk (n = 16,444) [77]. In Wales [76], the estimated cumulative 3-year incidence was 0.8% for referable retinopathy, defined as maculopathy or preproliferative or proliferative retinopathy that required assessment or treatment at a hospital eye service. In Norfolk [77], the calculated cumulative 3-year incidence was 0.24% for maculopathy and 0.27% for proliferative retinopathy, whereas the corresponding rates in Liverpool [47] were 1.1% and 1.6%, respectively.

In Study I, all images were graded at a hospital eye service, and subjects found to have sight-threatening vascular lesions were invited to undergo clinical evaluation. The use of slightly different definitions of retinopathy complicates comparison of the various assessments and may explain the higher incidence rates noted in the UK investigations cited above than in Study I. The term "referable retinopathy" was defined as the collection of maculopathy (exudates within one disc diameter of the fovea) or preproliferative or proliferative retinopathy in the Welsh study [76], whereas a simplified ETDRS classification was used in the Norfolk investigation [77], which unfortunately did not define the term "maculopathy". In Study I, the term referable was not used, because both the grading and the clinical evaluation of the subjects were performed at the same clinical center. In contrast, in two of the UK studies, subjects with eyes graded as referable retinopathy (Wales) or as maculopathy, preproliferative retinopathy, or worse (Norfolk) were referred to hospital eye services for further clinical assessment. Thus it is not known whether all the subjects who were referred for further evaluation actually had sight-threatening vascular lesions requiring treatment. If the results of Study I had been based solely on digital retinal image grading, two additional subjects would have been identified as having maculopathy (exudates within one disc diameter), which would have resulted in a total 3-year incidence of 0.2%.

Study I confirmed a low risk of progression to sight-threatening diabetic

retinopathy during a 3-year period in type 2 diabetic subjects without retinopathy, and hence it can be concluded that it is safe to retain the current 3-year screening guideline for this subgroup in Sweden. However, it is still a matter of debate whether other countries should prolong the screening interval from 1 to 3 years, considering that generalizations of results depend on similarities between study populations with regard to metabolic control, diabetes duration, and compliance. It might be argued that prolonged intervals can lead to a lower screening compliance rate, but this problem can be addressed by designing an organization to minimize the risk for drop out. Mehlsen and colleagues [78] investigated individualized intervals based on a calculated risk for each diabetic subject, and such an approach may prove suitable in the future.

# Impact of focal/grid laser treatment on the visual field (Study II)

We investigated the long-term effects of focal/grid photocoagulation on eyes with CSME and found that this laser treatment did not affect the visual fields, even though it did reduce the thickness and extension of the retinal edema. The use of SAP to evaluate the effects of focal/grid photocoagulation on retinal sensitivity has previously been assessed in only a few investigations, which applied considerably shorter follow-up time than Study II and were inconclusive due to conflicting results. Indeed, it is difficult to compare these investigations due to differences in the study design and the methods used. Greenstein et al. [79] included only subjects with CSME in their study and used two types of modified SAP with thresholds measured at areas corresponding to a retinal area of either 28° by 22° or 47° by 39°, and those authors found very little change in the visual fields three months after focal/grid laser treatment. In two other studies, Striph et al. [80] and Shimura et al. [81] reported decreased sensitivity in the visual fields 4 to 6 months after laser treatment; both those investigations included only subjects with diffuse diabetic macular edema corresponding to an area of at least two or more disc diameters. Furthermore, SAP was used in both those studies, but Striph et al. selected the central 10° for perimetry, whereas Shimura et al. chose the central 30°. The results obtained by these two research groups may be explained by greater severity of the macular edema, and presumably also subsequent use of more intensive laser treatment, as compared to the corresponding aspects in Study II and in the investigation conducted by Greenstein et al. [79].

Thus, even though photocoagulation for CSME did not affect visual fields during a 2-year follow-up period, it cannot be excluded that impaired retinal sensitivity could have been detected by using other methods, such as microperimetry or ERG. In Study II, focal/grid laser coagulation did not cause decreased retinal sensitivity during the first 2 years after treatment. On average, visual acuity declined three letters (i.e., less than one Snellen line) in the entire cohort. It is possible that intravitreal therapy with anti-VEGF would have resulted in better visual acuity at follow-up, but the outcome of retinal sensitivity after such treatment can only be speculated upon and must be addressed in future research.

# Effects of laser irradiation on RPE cells in vitro (Studies III and IV)

To explore the cellular mechanisms that occur after photocoagulation, we investigated the morphological and cellular effects of laser irradiation on the immortal human cell line ARPE-19. Laser-induced damage involved both necrosis and apoptosis, and the repair process lasted for 3 to 7 days and involved both proliferation and migration. By cross-referencing the gene and protein datasets, 24 gene–protein pairs were found to be directionally consistent on both gene and protein levels.

The ARPE-19 cell line was chosen for the experiments, because it has been widely used in previous RPE cell culture studies. Using a single human cell line makes it possible to focus the evaluation of treatment effects on the characteristics of that specific line. However, in terms of resemblance to human tissue, employing only one human cell line will certainly not mirror all significant processes that occur in the RPE *in situ*. Therefore, the disadvantages associated with using a single human cell line should always be taken into consideration and weighed against the benefits of using that particular line. Other RPE cell lines that can be selected include well-differentiated fetal or human pigmented RPE or RPE derived from embryonic/ pluripotent stem cells. Those options were not available in the present laboratory at the time Studies III and IV were conducted.

The morphological healing process demonstrated in Study III guided the selection of time points deemed to be relevant in the repair process in Studies III and IV. In Study III and in the microarray analyses performed in Study IV, attention was focused primarily on the first 24 h after treatment, because the major part of the healing process occurred during that time. The selection of the time point (48 h) for proteomics in Study IV was based on the morphological appearance of the healing process in addition to the findings regarding apoptosis, necrosis, and proliferation in Study III.

The poor correlation between mRNA and protein expression noted in Study IV is a known biological issue caused by parameters that influence mRNA-protein correlation [82].

Carbonic anhydrase 9 was suppressed in the laser-treated samples as compared to controls. Gao et al. [83] found that levels of carbonic anhydrase were higher in vitreous samples from diabetic subjects than in samples from non-diabetic controls. In the same investigaiton, it was also observed that intravitreal injections of carbonic anhydrase and erythrocyte lysis in rats increased both retinal vascular permeability and intraretinal edema to the same extent as VEGF did. Those findings suggest that

both carbonic anhydrase and erythrocyte lysis play a role in blood retinal barrier breakdown, and that retinal hemorrhages in diabetic retinopathy can potentiate an increase in vitreous carbonic anhydrase. Thus the laser-induced decreased levels of Carbonic anhydrase 9 may be one explanation for the beneficial effects of photocoagulation on macular edema.

In Study IV, the expressions of heat shock proteins 1A and 1B were enhanced in the laser-treated cells compared to untreated controls. The heat shock proteins expressed in the samples had a molecular weight of 70 kDa and thus belong to the Hsp70 family of stress-inducible proteins that enhance the ability of cells to manage and survive the accumulation of denatured proteins that occurs following stressful events. It has been shown that an elevated level of Hsp70 increases resistance to many inducers of apoptosis and/or necrosis, such as oxidative stress [84], which is involved in retinal ischemia. Accordingly, enhanced expression of Hsp70 may result in increased cellular tolerance to retinal ischemia in diseases such as diabetes. It remains to be determined whether the increased Hsp70 expression represents a first step in cellular activities aimed at inhibiting retinal vascular leakage or edema.

# Conclusions

- 1. The current 3-year screening interval used in Sweden for subjects with type 2 diabetes but no retinopathy is safe to retain, considering the very low incidence rate of sight-threatening diabetic retinopathy in this group.
- 2. SAP showed that retinal sensitivity was preserved in diabetic macular edema during a period of 2 years after laser treatment.
- 3. Laser coagulation of cultured ARPE-19 cells caused a combination of necrosis and apoptosis, which was followed by a healing process involving both migration and proliferation.
- 4. The beneficial effects of laser treatment for diabetic retinopathy might be partly explained by the downregulation of Carbonic anhydrase 9 and upregulation of the heat shock proteins 1A and 1B in the retinal pigment epithelium.

# Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Diabetes är en välkänd folksjukdom som orsakar förhöjda blodsockernivåer. Runt 6,4 % av jordens befolkning har diabetes och till år 2030 förväntas den andelen öka till ca 7,7 %. Det förhöjda blodsockret kan långsiktigt förorsaka kärlskador och medföra nedsatt funktion i bl.a. ögon, njurar, nerver och hjärta. Kärlförändringar i ögonens näthinna, s.k. diabetesretinopati, är huvudämnet för denna avhandling. Den förekommer i ca 35 % av den globala diabetesbefolkningen vilket motsvarar ca 93 miljoner individer. En typ av diabetesretinopati kallas diabetiskt makulaödem och orsakas av att vätska läcker ut ur näthinnans små blodkärl och orsakar förtjockning av näthinnan. Denna åkomma kan leda till allvarlig synnedsättning om den inte behandlas i tid.

Då diabetesretinopati kan uppstå utan påverkan på synfunktionen, genomgår patienter med diabetes fotografering av ögonbotten eller undersökning hos ögonläkare med regelbundna mellanrum, s.k. screening. Hur ofta undersökningarna görs skiljer sig åt mellan olika länder. I USA rekommenderas ett-åriga intervall, på Island rekommenderas två-åriga intervall och i Sverige rekommenderar Socialstyrelsen tre-åriga intervall för typ 2 diabetiker utan retinopati.

I studie I undersöktes hur stor risk det nuvarande tre-åriga intervallet utgjorde för utvecklingen av diabetesretinopati hos typ 2 diabetiker. Drygt 1 600 patienter utan kärlförändringar registrerades i en databas och planerades för tre-årig uppföljning. Endast en person insjuknade i diabetiskt makulaödem och inga patienter utvecklade andra former av synhotande diabetesretinopati. Detta motsvarade 0,07 % insjuknandegrad för tre-årsperioden. Då denna siffra är mycket låg bekräftar den att det befintliga tre-åriga intervallet för typ 2 diabetiker utan kärlförändringar är säker.

Patienten som i studie I drabbades av diabetiskt makulaödem erhöll laserbehandling med syfte att få ödemet att tillbakabildas. Vid laserbehandling riktas effekterna mot det förtjockade området av näthinnan. Laserenergin omvandlas till värme i ett speciellt lager av näthinnan som kallas pigmentepitelet. En möjlig biverkan av laserbehandlingen är att värmen sprids från pigmentepitelet och gör åverkan på övriga lager av näthinnan som är viktiga för att ögat skall uppfatta ljus. Sådan eventuell skada kan upptäckas med hjälp av synfältsundersökning som kontrollerar funktionen i flera områden till skillnad från en vanlig synundersökning som endast kontrollerar funktionen inom ett centralt område av näthinnan.

I studie II undersöktes om laserbehandling av diabetiskt makulaödem kunde försämra näthinnans funktion. Trots att laserbehandling är en väl beprövad metod som har använts mot diabetiskt makulaödem sedan 80-talet, har de studier som hittills gjorts för att undersöka laserns eventuella skadeeffekter med hjälp av synfält varit kortsiktiga och resultaten motstridiga. I denna studie värvades tjugonio patienter med diabetiskt makulaödem. Synfälten undersöktes före laserbehandling och därefter med ett halvårs mellanrum under två år. Resultaten av synfält jämfördes över tid och visade att inga patienter utvecklade laserorsakad skada under uppföljningstiden.

De förändringar som laserbehandlingen förmodligen orsakar på cellerna i pigmentepitelet, och som bidrar till ödemets tillbakabildning, är ännu inte kartlagda. En sådan kartläggning hade kunnat bidra till utvecklingen av nya läkemedel mot diabetiskt makulaödem.

I studie III undersöktes effekterna av laserbehandling på cellnivå. I denna studie etablerades en metod för laserbehandling av pigmentepitelceller i laboratoriemiljö. Med hjälp av metoden undersöktes vilken typ av celldöd som laser gav upphov till samt vilken typ av läkning som följde därefter. Det finns två typer av celldöd; plötslig och programmerad celldöd. Plötslig celldöd (även kallad nekros) har ett dramatiskt förlopp där cellens vägg går sönder och cellinnehåll svämmar ut. Den programmerade celldöden (även kallad apoptos) sker under mer kontrollerade förhållanden genom att cellen stegvis bryter ned sitt eget innehåll och begår självmord. Vår undersökning visade att laserbehandling orsakade plötslig celldöd, troligtvis p.g.a. den hastiga värmeutveckling som sker i cellerna, men den visade även att laser orsakade programmerad celldöd. Vad detta har för innebörd är svårt att tolka i nuläget, men programmerad celldöd kan tänkas spela en möjlig roll i tillbakabildningen av ödemet, antingen i sig självt genom att sjuka celler utraderas och nya friska växer till, eller genom att det parallellt gynnar händelser i cellerna som ökar deras motståndskraft. Vår undersökning visade också att den läkningsprocess som följde efter laserbehandling utgjordes dels av att cellerna växte i antal genom delning och dels genom att cellerna förflyttade sig och täckte laserskadan.

Pigmentepitelcellerna har många roller som är viktiga för ögats funktion. Bland annat tillverkar de proteiner som används av andra celler i näthinnans lager. Proteinerna tillverkas utifrån cellernas gener, som utgör ett slags mall för proteintillverkningen. Hur cellerna styr vilka proteiner som ska tillverkas är en komplicerad kedja av händelser. De kan sammanfattas med att cellen efter avläsning av en gen först tillverkar ett slags mellanprotein som i sin tur används som en mall till att tillverka ett protein. Typen och mängden av mellanprotein är alltså ett resultat av hur mycket respektive gen uttrycks i en cell, och kallas således för genuttryck. Typen och mängden av proteiner som cellen tillverkar i steget efter genuttrycket, kallas proteinuttryck.

I studie IV undersöktes hur pigmentepitelcellernas uttryck av gener respektive proteiner ändrades efter laserbehandling, med hjälp av metoden från studie III. Uttrycket ändrades hos 911 av ca 28 000 undersökta gener och hos 242 av ca 1 500 undersökta proteiner. För att undersöka om dessa gener och proteiner har några gemensamma roller, utfördes en datauträkning som jämförde respektive gens och proteins funktion. Denna analys visade reparationsmekanismer samt inflammatoriska mekanismer som främsta gemensamma nämnare.

Därutöver uppmärksammades att uttrycket av proteinet karbanhydras 9, som i tidigare studier påvisats vara förhöjd i ögonvävnad hos patienter med diabetesretinopati, var sänkt i de laserbehandlade cellerna. Även uttrycket av heat shock proteinerna 1A och 1B, som i tidigare studier påvisats vara delaktiga i läkningsoch skyddsmekanismer av celler som utsätts för stress, var förhöjda. Det är möjligt att dessa proteiner är delaktiga i den förmånliga process som följer efter laserbehandling av diabetiskt makulaödem.

Denna avhandling sammanfattar resultaten av fyra studier vars respektive slutsats är:

- Det befintliga tre-åriga intervallet för typ 2 diabetiker utan kärlförändringar är säker.
- Laserbehandling av diabetiskt makulaödem skadar inte näthinnans funktion.
- Laser orsakar plötslig celldöd samt programmerad celldöd och följs därefter av läkningsprocesser som innefattar både växt och förflyttning av celler.
- Det sänkta uttrycket av karbanhydras 9 och det höjda uttrycket av heat shock proteinerna 1A och 1B efter laserbehandling kan vara delaktiga i den förmånliga processen i näthinnan efter laserbehandling av diabetiskt makulaödem.

# Acknowledgements (Or: The part read first, by most)

Most of you know it. It's been a journey. Now it's over and I owe it to you. In case you are—or have been—a mentor of mine, a research colleague, a clinical colleague, clinical lead, course leader, lecturer, friend from the past or present, a family member, a close or distant relative, an administrative acquaintance, a superior or alike, any of the above, in any or no combination, I will forever owe you a big, echoing thank you. But a special *thank you* too...

**Elisabet Agardh**. What an encouraging and inspiring spirit you are. You shared your knowledge and wisdom sincerely throughout the years and I am grateful to you for that. You were always easily available for questions and discussions, with coffee or not. Thank you for introducing me to science and for your guidance along the way!

**Boel Bengtsson**. You have a wonderful sense of humour with which you take on any scientific challenge. It has been a pleasure to have you on board. Thank you for providing the large perspective when I worked on the smaller scale!

**Ola Hansson** for your tireless, eye-opening and yet relaxed lessons on microarray and proteomics. You have the ability to make things on the small scale totally irresistible. Small details do make a difference, I have learned!

Maria Gomez for providing expertise and encouragement in the lab, and for enlightening discussions on cell biology. Hi-five!

**Lisa Berglund** for opening the doors to the world of laboratory research and for teaching me the basics of planning and performing research in the lab. For the wow—effect when reading the results after a hard day's work. It was truly an experience!

Jonathan Esguerra and Jens F Kiilgaard for an interesting and eye-opening review half-way through the thesis!

**Bodil Israelsson, Marie Bengtsson** and **Maj—Lis Smith** for being an awesome team with extraordinary technical skills and having the patience to explain the basics and repeat them again!

**Gunilla Lundskog Svensson** for the meticulous listing of patients for retinopathy screening follow-up and for knowing the answer to absolutely everything!

**Elisabeth Pranter** for the painstaking process of data collection and helping me out with issues related to imaging!

Anna Maria Dutius—Andersson, for your technical skills and sense of humour and Anna Zetterqvist and Olga Kotova for being supportive and showing interest in the experimental projects involved in this thesis!

Malin Fex and Hedvig Bennet for providing your competence and talents when needed the most!

Anders Heijl for providing the structure and atmosphere at the research department and for giving many and me the possibility of doing research. Thanks for the interview and all that followed!

**Joakim Thylefors** for being sincerely generous with your clinical skills and for fun and uplifting discussions about all things; be it books, gadgets or sailing. For upsizing me when I shrink and the opposite when I grow too big for my own good!

**Carin Gustavsson** for being supportive and understanding and for all sincere fun we have had. You totally own!

Sabina Andersson for chocolate and lip-gloss ladies and aquariums and producing movies and such. So much fun!

**Björn Stenström** for deep and continuing discussions about important things in life and for making me aware of so many aspects of so many things. Everyone should have a piece of you!

**Björn Hammar** for warm conversations and inspiring me and others with your giving personality. I constantly look forward to our next lunch!

**Rafi Sheikh** for your somewhat contagious producing personality and **Ulf Dahlstrand** for your twisted humour and for your skills in identifying what matters most!

Karl-Johan Hellgren for your visits and thoughtful conversations that always take place in your presence!

The Glaucomedians; **Dorothea Peters**, **Dimitrios Bizios**, **Johan Aspberg** and **Jesper Hougaard** for being in good spirit always and for choosing the subspecialty so I don't have to!

Johnny Ring, for sharing fun stories and for having the right answers to all technical enquiries!

Agneta Gierow, my first clinical tutor at Ängelholms ögonklinik. You taught me the basics and shared your Gold Nuggets of Ophthalmology. You are the clinical tutor the rest of us long to become!

The rest of Ängelholms ögonklinik and it's doctors; **Bertil Billing**, **Per Carlsson**, **Torsten Ehrner**, **Björn Hasselqvist**, **Anders Neller** and **Helena Åberg**. You provided the best atmosphere and clinical guidance any residence could wish for. Thank you for showing me how it is done!

Ålands Centralsjukhus and Hälsocentralen i Godby, you guys taught me everything during AT. You are the best and you know it!

Mosi Tababat—Khani and Badri Dayani, my parents, for leaving everything behind and for the new start you defined for us. I admire you for doing it with so much love and fun. You have always provided guidance. I hope you can kick back and relax and enjoy the ride!

**Payam Tababat—Khani**, my big brother, for long phone calls that always make me calm. Whenever I am stuck or in hesitation, you help me out. Thank you for allowing me to share so much (and for teaching me to drive)!

William och Vidar Tababat—Khani, mina barn, för att ni smittar med glädje och livslust. Jag blir så glad när jag tänker på er, vad ni gör och vad ni säger. Ni kan lära er vad ni vill!

Line Tababat—Khani, what a wonderful human being you are. You are always in a good mood and you always look on the bright side of life. With the perfect sense of humour and adorable presence you have taught me what is important in life. I love you!



# References

- Shaw JE, Sicree RA, Zimmet PZ. Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2010;87(1):4-14. Epub 2009/11/10. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2009.10.007. PubMed PMID: 19896746.
- 2. Zhang P, Zhang X, Brown J, Vistisen D, Sicree R, Shaw J, et al. Global healthcare expenditure on diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2010;87(3):293-301. Epub 2010/02/23. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2010.01.026. PubMed PMID: 20171754.
- 3. Yau JW, Rogers SL, Kawasaki R, Lamoureux EL, Kowalski JW, Bek T, et al. Global prevalence and major risk factors of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(3):556-64. Epub 2012/02/04. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1909. PubMed PMID: 22301125; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3322721.
- Klein BE. Overview of epidemiologic studies of diabetic retinopathy. Ophthalmic epidemiology. 2007;14(4):179-83. Epub 2007/09/27. doi: 10.1080/09286580701396720. PubMed PMID: 17896294.
- Matthews DR, Stratton IM, Aldington SJ, Holman RR, Kohner EM. Risks of progression of retinopathy and vision loss related to tight blood pressure control in type 2 diabetes mellitus: UKPDS 69. Archives of ophthalmology (Chicago, Ill : 1960). 2004;122(11):1631-40. Epub 2004/11/10. doi: 10.1001/archopht.122.11.1631. PubMed PMID: 15534123.
- White NH, Cleary PA, Dahms W, Goldstein D, Malone J, Tamborlane WV. Beneficial effects of intensive therapy of diabetes during adolescence: outcomes after the conclusion of the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT). The Journal of pediatrics. 2001;139(6):804-12. Epub 2001/12/18. PubMed PMID: 11743505.
- Tarr JM, Kaul K, Chopra M, Kohner EM, Chibber R. Pathophysiology of diabetic retinopathy. ISRN Ophthalmol. 2013;2013:343560. doi: 10.1155/2013/343560. PubMed PMID: 24563789; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3914226.
- Lassegue B, Clempus RE. Vascular NAD(P)H oxidases: specific features, expression, and regulation. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2003;285(2):R277-97. doi: 10.1152/ ajpregu.00758.2002. PubMed PMID: 12855411.
- Lorenzi M. The polyol pathway as a mechanism for diabetic retinopathy: attractive, elusive, and resilient. Exp Diabetes Res. 2007;2007:61038. doi: 10.1155/2007/61038. PubMed PMID: 18224243; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1950230.
- 10. Milne R, Brownstein S. Advanced glycation end products and diabetic retinopathy. Amino Acids. 2013;44(6):1397-407. doi: 10.1007/s00726-011-1071-3. PubMed PMID: 21909978.
- 11. Kandarakis SA, Piperi C, Topouzis F, Papavassiliou AG. Emerging role of advanced glycationend products (AGEs) in the pathobiology of eye diseases. Progress in retinal and eye research. 2014;42:85-102. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2014.05.002. PubMed PMID: 24905859.
- 12. Antal CE, Newton AC. Tuning the signalling output of protein kinase C. Biochem Soc Trans. 2014;42(6):1477-83. doi: 10.1042/BST20140172. PubMed PMID: 25399557.
- 13. Suzuma K, Takahara N, Suzuma I, Isshiki K, Ueki K, Leitges M, et al. Characterization of protein kinase C beta isoform's action on retinoblastoma protein phosphorylation, vascular endothelial growth factor-induced endothelial cell proliferation, and retinal neovascularization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(2):721-6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.022644499. PubMed PMID: 11805327; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC117372.
- 14. Geraldes P, Hiraoka-Yamamoto J, Matsumoto M, Clermont A, Leitges M, Marette A, et al. Activation of PKC-delta and SHP-1 by hyperglycemia causes vascular cell apoptosis and

diabetic retinopathy. Nature medicine. 2009;15(11):1298-306. doi: 10.1038/nm.2052. PubMed PMID: 19881493; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3290906.

- Wu Y, Tang L, Chen B. Oxidative stress: implications for the development of diabetic retinopathy and antioxidant therapeutic perspectives. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2014;2014:752387. doi: 10.1155/2014/752387. PubMed PMID: 25180070; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4142742.
- Behl T, Kaur I, Kotwani A. Implication of oxidative stress in progression of diabetic retinopathy. Survey of ophthalmology. 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.survophthal.2015.06.001. PubMed PMID: 26074354.
- 17. Cunha-Vaz J, Bernardes R, Lobo C. Blood-retinal barrier. European journal of ophthalmology. 2011;21 Suppl 6:S3-9. Epub 2011/01/01. doi: 10.5301/ej0.2010.6049. PubMed PMID: 23264323.
- 18. Klaassen I, Van Noorden CJ, Schlingemann RO. Molecular basis of the inner blood-retinal barrier and its breakdown in diabetic macular edema and other pathological conditions. Progress in retinal and eye research. 2013;34:19-48. Epub 2013/02/19. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2013.02.001. PubMed PMID: 23416119.
- 19. Beltramo E, Porta M. Pericyte loss in diabetic retinopathy: mechanisms and consequences. Curr Med Chem. 2013;20(26):3218-25. PubMed PMID: 23745544.
- 20. Reichenbach A, Wurm A, Pannicke T, Iandiev I, Wiedemann P, Bringmann A. Muller cells as players in retinal degeneration and edema. Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology = Albrecht von Graefes Archiv fur klinische und experimentelle Ophthalmologie. 2007;245(5):627-36. Epub 2007/01/16. doi: 10.1007/s00417-006-0516-y. PubMed PMID: 17219109.
- Roy S, Ha J, Trudeau K, Beglova E. Vascular basement membrane thickening in diabetic retinopathy. Current eye research. 2010;35(12):1045-56. Epub 2010/10/12. doi: 10.3109/02713683.2010.514659. PubMed PMID: 20929292.
- **22.** Tang J, Mohr S, Du YD, Kern TS. Non-uniform distribution of lesions and biochemical abnormalities within the retina of diabetic humans. Current eye research. 2003;27(1):7-13. Epub 2003/07/18. PubMed PMID: 12868004.
- 23. Roy S, Bae E, Amin S, Kim D. Extracellular matrix, gap junctions, and retinal vascular homeostasis in diabetic retinopathy. Experimental eye research. 2015;133:58-68. Epub 2015/03/31. doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2014.08.011. PubMed PMID: 25819455.
- 24. Praidou A, Androudi S, Brazitikos P, Karakiulakis G, Papakonstantinou E, Dimitrakos S. Angiogenic growth factors and their inhibitors in diabetic retinopathy. Current diabetes reviews. 2010;6(5):304-12. Epub 2010/07/03. PubMed PMID: 20594164.
- **25.** Abcouwer SF, Gardner TW. Diabetic retinopathy: loss of neuroretinal adaptation to the diabetic metabolic environment. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2014;1311:174-90. Epub 2014/03/29. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12412. PubMed PMID: 24673341; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4154702.
- 26. Dvorak HF. Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor: a critical cytokine in tumor angiogenesis and a potential target for diagnosis and therapy. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2002;20(21):4368-80. Epub 2002/11/01. PubMed PMID: 12409337.
- **27.** Kaji Y, Usui T, Ishida S, Yamashiro K, Moore TC, Moore J, et al. Inhibition of diabetic leukostasis and blood-retinal barrier breakdown with a soluble form of a receptor for advanced glycation end products. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2007;48(2):858-65. Epub 2007/01/26. doi: 10.1167/iovs.06-0495. PubMed PMID: 17251488.
- 28. Tang J, Kern TS. Inflammation in diabetic retinopathy. Progress in retinal and eye research.

2011;30(5):343-58. Epub 2011/06/04. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2011.05.002. PubMed PMID: 21635964; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3433044.

- 29. Cohen T, Nahari D, Cerem LW, Neufeld G, Levi BZ. Interleukin 6 induces the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1996;271(2):736-41. Epub 1996/01/12. PubMed PMID: 8557680.
- 30. Ghasemi H, Ghazanfari T, Yaraee R, Faghihzadeh S, Hassan ZM. Roles of IL-8 in ocular inflammations: a review. Ocular immunology and inflammation. 2011;19(6):401-12. Epub 2011/11/24. doi: 10.3109/09273948.2011.618902. PubMed PMID: 22106907.
- **31.** Guarda G, So A. Regulation of inflammasome activity. Immunology. 2010;130(3):329-36. Epub 2010/05/15. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03283.x. PubMed PMID: 20465574; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2913212.
- **32.** Sly WS, Hu PY. Human carbonic anhydrases and carbonic anhydrase deficiencies. Annual review of biochemistry. 1995;64:375-401. Epub 1995/01/01. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.64.070195.002111. PubMed PMID: 7574487.
- **33.** Cox SN, Hay E, Bird AC. Treatment of chronic macular edema with acetazolamide. Archives of ophthalmology (Chicago, Ill : 1960). 1988;106(9):1190-5. Epub 1988/09/01. PubMed PMID: 3415543.
- 34. Weiwei Z, Hu R. Targeting carbonic anhydrase to treat diabetic retinopathy: emerging evidences and encouraging results. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2009;390(3):368-71. Epub 2009/10/17. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.10.031. PubMed PMID: 19833100.
- **35.** Wykoff CC, Beasley NJ, Watson PH, Turner KJ, Pastorek J, Sibtain A, et al. Hypoxia-inducible expression of tumor-associated carbonic anhydrases. Cancer research. 2000;60(24):7075-83. Epub 2001/01/13. PubMed PMID: 11156414.
- **36.** Fundus photographic risk factors for progression of diabetic retinopathy. ETDRS report number 12. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Ophthalmology. 1991;98(5 Suppl):823-33. Epub 1991/05/01. PubMed PMID: 2062515.
- 37. Wilkinson CP, Ferris FL, 3rd, Klein RE, Lee PP, Agardh CD, Davis M, et al. Proposed international clinical diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema disease severity scales. Ophthalmology. 2003;110(9):1677-82. Epub 2003/09/18. doi: 10.1016/s0161-6420(03)00475-5. PubMed PMID: 13129861.
- Mohamed Q, Gillies MC, Wong TY. Management of diabetic retinopathy: a systematic review. Jama. 2007;298(8):902-16. Epub 2007/08/23. doi: 10.1001/jama.298.8.902. PubMed PMID: 17712074.
- **39.** Russo A, Morescalchi F, Costagliola C, Delcassi L, Semeraro F. Comparison of smartphone ophthalmoscopy with slit-lamp biomicroscopy for grading diabetic retinopathy. American journal of ophthalmology. 2015;159(2):360-4.e1. Epub 2014/12/03. doi: 10.1016/j.aj0.2014.11.008. PubMed PMID: 25447109.
- 40. Bouhaimed M, Gibbins R, Owens D. Automated detection of diabetic retinopathy: results of a screening study. Diabetes technology & therapeutics. 2008;10(2):142-8. Epub 2008/02/12. doi: 10.1089/dia.2007.0239. PubMed PMID: 18260777.
- Faust O, Acharya UR, Ng EY, Ng KH, Suri JS. Algorithms for the automated detection of diabetic retinopathy using digital fundus images: a review. Journal of medical systems. 2012;36(1):145-57. Epub 2010/08/13. doi: 10.1007/s10916-010-9454-7. PubMed PMID: 20703740.
- **42.** Mitry D, Peto T, Hayat S, Morgan JE, Khaw KT, Foster PJ. Crowdsourcing as a novel technique for retinal fundus photography classification: analysis of images in the EPIC Norfolk cohort on behalf of the UK Biobank Eye and Vision Consortium. PloS one. 2013;8(8):e71154. Epub

2013/08/31. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071154. PubMed PMID: 23990935; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3749186.

- **43.** AAO Retina/Vitreous PPP Panel HCfQEC. Diabetic Retinopathy Preferred Practice Pattern Guideline 2014 [accessed 2016 January 21]. Available from: http://www.aao.org/preferred-practice-pattern/diabetic-retinopathy-ppp--2014.
- 44. Programme NICG. Type 2 diabetes: The management of type 2 diabetes. NICE Guidelines [NG28] 2015 [accessed 2016 January 21]. Available from: http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ ng28.
- 45. Olafsdottir E, Stefansson E. Biennial eye screening in patients with diabetes without retinopathy: 10-year experience. The British journal of ophthalmology. 2007;91(12):1599-601. Epub 2007/07/14. doi: 10.1136/bj0.2007.123810. PubMed PMID: 17627978; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2095544.
- **46**. Socialstyrelsen. Nationella riktlinjer för diabetesvård: Socialstyrelsen; 2015. 144 p.
- **47**. Younis N, Broadbent DM, Vora JP, Harding SP. Incidence of sight-threatening retinopathy in patients with type 2 diabetes in the Liverpool Diabetic Eye Study: a cohort study. Lancet (London, England). 2003;361(9353):195-200. Epub 2003/01/28. PubMed PMID: 12547541.
- **48**. Photocoagulation for diabetic macular edema. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study report number 1. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study research group. Archives of ophthalmology (Chicago, Ill : 1960). 1985;103(12):1796-806. Epub 1985/12/01. PubMed PMID: 2866759.
- 49. Treatment techniques and clinical guidelines for photocoagulation of diabetic macular edema. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Report Number 2. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Ophthalmology. 1987;94(7):761-74. Epub 1987/07/01. PubMed PMID: 3658348.
- 50. Lobefalo L, Verrotti A, Mastropasqua L, Della Loggia G, Cherubini V, Morgese G, et al. Blueon-yellow and achromatic perimetry in diabetic children without retinopathy. Diabetes Care. 1998;21(11):2003-6. Epub 1998/11/05. PubMed PMID: 9802758.
- Afrashi F, Erakgun T, Kose S, Ardic K, Mentes J. Blue-on-yellow perimetry versus achromatic perimetry in type 1 diabetes patients without retinopathy. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2003;61(1):7-11. Epub 2003/07/10. PubMed PMID: 12849918.
- **52.** Agardh E, Stjernquist H, Heijl A, Bengtsson B. Visual acuity and perimetry as measures of visual function in diabetic macular oedema. Diabetologia. 2006;49(1):200-6. Epub 2005/12/13. doi: 10.1007/s00125-005-0072-8. PubMed PMID: 16341838.
- 53. Acton JH, Greenstein VC. Fundus-driven perimetry (microperimetry) compared to conventional static automated perimetry: similarities, differences, and clinical applications. Canadian journal of ophthalmology Journal canadien d'ophtalmologie. 2013;48(5):358-63. Epub 2013/10/08. doi: 10.1016/j.jcj0.2013.03.021. PubMed PMID: 24093180; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3792399.
- 54. Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency UK. DVLA's current medical guidelines for professionals - Vision appendix 2013 [accessed 2016 January 21]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/ guidance/current-medical-guidelines-dvla-guidance-for-professionals-vision-chapterappendix.
- 55. Transportstyrelsen. TSFS 2010: 125 Transportstyrelsens föreskrifter om medicinska krav för innehav av körkort m.m.2010.
- 56. Heijl A, Aspberg J, Bengtsson B. The effect of different criteria on the number of patients blind from open-angle glaucoma. BMC ophthalmology. 2011;11:31. Epub 2011/11/15. doi: 10.1186/1471-

2415-11-31. PubMed PMID: 22074185; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3247062.

- 57. Lung JC, Swann PG, Wong DS, Chan HH. Global flash multifocal electroretinogram: early detection of local functional changes and its correlations with optical coherence tomography and visual field tests in diabetic eyes. Documenta ophthalmologica Advances in ophthalmology. 2012;125(2):123-35. Epub 2012/07/26. doi: 10.1007/s10633-012-9343-0. PubMed PMID: 22828871.
- 58. Weiner A, Christopoulos VA, Gussler CH, Adams DH, Kaufman SR, Kohn HD, et al. Foveal cone function in nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy and macular edema. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 1997;38(7):1443-9. Epub 1997/06/01. PubMed PMID: 9191608.
- 59. Harrison WW, Bearse MA, Jr., Schneck ME, Wolff BE, Jewell NP, Barez S, et al. Prediction, by retinal location, of the onset of diabetic edema in patients with nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2011;52(9):6825-31. Epub 2011/07/12. doi: 10.1167/iovs.11-7533. PubMed PMID: 21743017; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3176012.
- 60. Lai TY, Chan WM, Lai RY, Ngai JW, Li H, Lam DS. The clinical applications of multifocal electroretinography: a systematic review. Survey of ophthalmology. 2007;52(1):61-96. Epub 2007/01/11. doi: 10.1016/j.survophthal.2006.10.005. PubMed PMID: 17212991.
- 61. Carr LW, 3rd, Talley DK. Laser-tissue interactions. Optometry clinics : the official publication of the Prentice Society. 1995;4(4):17-31. Epub 1995/01/01. PubMed PMID: 7488796.
- 62. Peyman GA, Raichand M, Zeimer RC. Ocular effects of various laser wavelengths. Survey of ophthalmology. 1984;28(5):391-404. Epub 1984/03/01. PubMed PMID: 6426070.
- 63. Schatz H, Madeira D, McDonald HR, Johnson RN. Progressive enlargement of laser scars following grid laser photocoagulation for diffuse diabetic macular edema. Archives of ophthalmology (Chicago, Ill : 1960). 1991;109(11):1549-51. Epub 1991/11/01. PubMed PMID: 1755735.
- 64. Lewis H, Schachat AP, Haimann MH, Haller JA, Quinlan P, von Fricken MA, et al. Choroidal neovascularization after laser photocoagulation for diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology. 1990;97(4):503-10; discussion 10-1. Epub 1990/04/01. PubMed PMID: 1691477.
- 65. Guyer DR, D'Amico DJ, Smith CW. Subretinal fibrosis after laser photocoagulation for diabetic macular edema. American journal of ophthalmology. 1992;113(6):652-6. Epub 1992/06/15. PubMed PMID: 1376019.
- 66. Wallow IH. Repair of the pigment epithelial barrier following photocoagulation. Archives of ophthalmology (Chicago, Ill : 1960). 1984;102(1):126-35. Epub 1984/01/01. PubMed PMID: 6703956.
- 67. Stefansson E, Machemer R, de Juan E, Jr., McCuen BW, 2nd, Peterson J. Retinal oxygenation and laser treatment in patients with diabetic retinopathy. American journal of ophthalmology. 1992;113(1):36-8. Epub 1992/01/25. PubMed PMID: 1728144.
- 68. Stefansson E, Hatchell DL, Fisher BL, Sutherland FS, Machemer R. Panretinal photocoagulation and retinal oxygenation in normal and diabetic cats. American journal of ophthalmology. 1986;101(6):657-64. Epub 1986/06/15. PubMed PMID: 3717248.
- 69. Strauss O. The retinal pigment epithelium in visual function. Physiological reviews. 2005;85(3):845-81. Epub 2005/07/01. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00021.2004. PubMed PMID: 15987797.
- **70.** Davis AA, Bernstein PS, Bok D, Turner J, Nachtigal M, Hunt RC. A human retinal pigment epithelial cell line that retains epithelial characteristics after prolonged culture. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 1995;36(5):955-64. Epub 1995/04/01. PubMed PMID: 7706045.
- 71. Hornof M, Toropainen E, Urtti A. Cell culture models of the ocular barriers. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2005;60(2):207-25. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2005.01.009. PubMed PMID: 15939234.

- 72. Bodnar AG, Ouellette M, Frolkis M, Holt SE, Chiu CP, Morin GB, et al. Extension of lifespan by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. Science (New York, NY). 1998;279(5349):349-52. Epub 1998/02/07. PubMed PMID: 9454332.
- **73.** Dunn KC, Aotaki-Keen AE, Putkey FR, Hjelmeland LM. ARPE-19, a human retinal pigment epithelial cell line with differentiated properties. Experimental eye research. 1996;62(2):155-69. doi: 10.1006/exer.1996.0020. PubMed PMID: 8698076.
- 74. Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. Nature methods. 2012;9(7):671-5. Epub 2012/08/30. PubMed PMID: 22930834.
- 75. Kanehisa M, Goto S. KEGG: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. Nucleic acids research. 2000;28(1):27-30. Epub 1999/12/11. PubMed PMID: 10592173; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC102409.
- 76. Thomas RL, Dunstan F, Luzio SD, Roy Chowdury S, Hale SL, North RV, et al. Incidence of diabetic retinopathy in people with type 2 diabetes mellitus attending the Diabetic Retinopathy Screening Service for Wales: retrospective analysis. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2012;344:e874. Epub 2012/03/01. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e874. PubMed PMID: 22362115; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3284424.
- 77. Jones CD, Greenwood RH, Misra A, Bachmann MO. Incidence and progression of diabetic retinopathy during 17 years of a population-based screening program in England. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(3):592-6. Epub 2012/01/27. doi: 10.2337/dc11-0943. PubMed PMID: 22279031; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3322726.
- **78.** Mehlsen J, Erlandsen M, Poulsen PL, Bek T. Individualized optimization of the screening interval for diabetic retinopathy: a new model. Acta ophthalmologica. 2012;90(2):109-14. Epub 2010/04/14. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-3768.2010.01882.x. PubMed PMID: 20384605.
- **79.** Greenstein VC, Chen H, Hood DC, Holopigian K, Seiple W, Carr RE. Retinal function in diabetic macular edema after focal laser photocoagulation. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2000;41(11):3655-64. Epub 2000/09/28. PubMed PMID: 11006264.
- 80. Striph GG, Hart WM, Jr., Olk RJ. Modified grid laser photocoagulation for diabetic macular edema. The effect on the central visual field. Ophthalmology. 1988;95(12):1673-9. Epub 1988/12/01. PubMed PMID: 3231435.
- 81. Shimura M, Yasuda K, Nakazawa T, Ota S, Tamai M. Effective treatment of diffuse diabetic macular edema by temporal grid pattern photocoagulation. Ophthalmic surgery, lasers & imaging : the official journal of the International Society for Imaging in the Eye. 2004;35(4):270-80. Epub 2004/08/13. PubMed PMID: 15305550.
- Maier T, Guell M, Serrano L. Correlation of mRNA and protein in complex biological samples. FEBS letters. 2009;583(24):3966-73. Epub 2009/10/24. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.10.036. PubMed PMID: 19850042.
- 83. Gao BB, Clermont A, Rook S, Fonda SJ, Srinivasan VJ, Wojtkowski M, et al. Extracellular carbonic anhydrase mediates hemorrhagic retinal and cerebral vascular permeability through prekallikrein activation. Nature medicine. 2007;13(2):181-8. Epub 2007/01/30. doi: 10.1038/nm1534. PubMed PMID: 17259996.
- 84. Jaattela M. Heat shock proteins as cellular lifeguards. Annals of medicine. 1999;31(4):261-71. Epub 1999/09/10. PubMed PMID: 10480757.





Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2016:13 ISBN 978-91-7619-239-9 ISSN 1652-8220

